
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU 

 
 

 
 

Operational Services 
Cabinet Committee 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Members of the Operational Services Cabinet Committee of Gravesham Borough Council are 
summoned to attend a meeting to be held at the Council Chamber, Civic Centre, Windmill Street, 
Gravesend DA12 1AU on Tuesday, 7 February 2023 at 7.30 pm when the business specified in 
the following agenda is proposed to be transacted. 
 
 

 
S Walsh 
Service Manager (Communities) 
 
 

Agenda 
 

Part A 
Items likely to be considered in Public 

1. Apologies for Absence   

2. Minutes  (Pages 3 - 8) 

3. Declarations of Interest   

4. To consider whether any items in Part A of the Agenda should be 
considered in private or any items in Part B in public  

 

5. Parks & Open Space 2022 Annual Report  (Pages 9 - 32) 

6. Waste Management Update Report  (Pages 33 - 54) 

7. Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter or urgency.  

 

8. Exclusion   

 To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A (4) of the Local  



Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any items 
included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view of the nature 
of the business to be transacted that if members of the public are present 
during those items, there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act. 
 

Part B  
 

Items likely to be considered in private  
 

None.  
 

 
 
Members 
 
Cllr Lee Croxton (Chair) 
Cllr Gurbax Singh (Vice-Chair) 
 
Councillors: Conrad Broadley 

Gurdip Ram Bungar 
Gary Harding 
Nirmal Khabra 
Leslie Pearton 
Alan Ridgers 
Brian Sangha 
Frank Wardle 
 

 
Substitutes: To be notified 



1 

Operational Services Cabinet Committee 
 

Thursday, 24 November 2022                    7.30 pm 
 
Present: 

 

Cllr Lee Croxton (Chair) 

Cllr Gurbax Singh (Vice-Chair) 

 
Councillors: Ejaz Aslam 

Gurdip Bungar 

Nirmal Khabra 

Les Hoskins 

Leslie Pearton 

Christina Rolles 

Frank Wardle 

  
Stuart Alford Assistant Director (Operations) 
Elizabeth Thornton Service Manager (Property & Regulatory Services) 
Mark Lees Regulatory Services Manager 
Joel Simons Waste Projects and Compliance Officer 
Chloe Taylor Committee Services Officer (Minutes) 
 
 

8. Apologies for Absence  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Cllr Broadley, Cllr Harding, Cllr Sangha (Cllr 
Hoskins, Cllr Aslam and Cllr Rolles substituted) and Cllr Ridgers. 
 

9. Minutes  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 07 June 2022, were agreed and signed by the Chair. 
 

10. Declarations of Interest  
 
No declarations of interest were made. 
 

11. Street Cleansing Policy  
 
The Assistant Director (Operations) and the Waste Projects and Compliance Officer 
presented Members of the Committee with a report that outlined the proposed Street 
Cleansing Policy for comment and consideration. It was advised that Members consider the 
report and recommend its adoption. The following key points were highlighted from the 
report: 
 

 Gravesham Borough Council (GBC) had a Waste Collection Policy and therefore 

created a Street Cleansing Policy to outline the expectations around Street Cleaning. 

This included what is GBC responsibility and what is not, and ensuring transparency 

is kept with the public and with Members. 

Page 3 Agenda Item 2



Operational Services Cabinet Committee 24.11.2022 

2 

 This tied in with a recent Scrutiny Topic Review titled, ‘Street Cleanliness, Littering 

and Fly-tipping within the Borough’. 

 The Policy was formed under the Environmental Protection Act, which stated the 

council had a duty to keep the streets clear of litter and remove fly-tipped waste on 

public land. 

 Section 5.1 outlined the hours of operation. The Waste Projects and Compliance 

Officer explained to Members that the Town Centre had an increased regime. 

 Section 5.5.6 detailed a useful list of contacts to report issues such as graffiti on post 

boxes that can also be found on the GBC website. 

 

Following questions from Members, the Assistant Director (Operations) and the Waste 

Projects and Compliance Officer explained the following: 

 

 It was discussed that lorries carrying waste should have a protective sheet to prevent 

litter from coming out of the vehicle. The Assistant Director (Operations) advised 

Members that he would explore the legal standing and look at what enforcement 

actions could be taken.  Any incidents should be reported to the Assistant Director 

(Operations). 

 The A2 and M25 fall under the responsibility of Highways England. The carriage way, 

litter and all furniture on the slip roads and the responsibility of National Highways. 

However, the A289 falls under the responsibility of GBC, and it’s not an easy road to 

clean. This often included partial/full closure at night and costs between £5,000 and 

£6,000. Highspeed roads were discussed across Kent on how they can be 

maintained more often and how they can prevent littering on these roads. 

 When weeds were green, they were the responsibility of Kent County Council (KCC). 

When weeds were brown, they were classed as litter, and this was the responsibility 

of GBC, but both parties work together. 

 There was discussion around holding a Member training session after the Local 

Elections, with a presentation on direct services and having a user guide. 

 Following a Members query on whether the policy could be more user friendly, the 

Assistant Director (Operations) explained that the policy followed the corporate 

template. However, he agreed to take this away for consideration. 

 The removal of graffiti will be done as quickly as possible, with an aim of 5 working 

days. When the graffiti was on a private building, they would seek written permission 

from the owner before proceeding. 

 The Town Centre alley ways were regularly washed down with disinfectant, but 

Members were assured that this would be looked at further. 

 The Assistant Director (Operations) advised Members he would have a discussion 

with the communications team regarding future promotion of the service. 

 Companies that used signs on pallets placed on the pavement as a form of 

advertisement would have these removed. 

 Following concerns raised in Rochester Road, Gravesend, Members were advised 

informative letters on refuse collection would be distributed. 

Page 4



Operational Services Cabinet Committee 24.11.2022 

3 

 Whilst foxes had previously been an issue within the Borough, it had dramatically 

improved when wheely bins were implemented. However, some instances had 

occurred since. When this happened, the street cleaning crew were expected to clear 

what they could. 

 

Resolved: Taking into account comments fed back by Committee Members, that the policy 

be agreed and formally adopted with the exception that consideration be given to making the 

policy more user friendly. 

 

12. Contaminated Land Strategy Review Report  
 
The Regulatory Services Manager presented Members of the Committee with the draft 

revised Contaminated Land Strategy and the proposed consultation methodology, and 

explained the following: 

 

 GBC had a duty to publish a written strategy that was subject to periodic review. It 

was thought that five years would be best practice. However, since its adoption in 

2013 there had been no change to legislation, and as such GBC’s policy had not 

been reviewed for almost ten years. 

 Updates and improvements were now required to processes and mapping data in 

order to be able to support our statutory duty to inspect and prioritise contaminated 

land. 

 The proposed tasks could be covered within the existing budget and would help to 

assist Officers by giving them reliable information. 

 

Following questions from Members, the Regulatory Services Manager outlined the following: 

 

 Leap Environmental Ltd were the only consultancy agency they engaged with as they 

were the dedicated Contaminated Land Consultants and had previously been 

involved with the process meaning they had access to the mapping system. 

 The Regulatory Services Manager advised Members that would aim to commence 

the consultation the week following the date of the meeting. 

 They intended to expand the consultation period from four week to between six and 

eight weeks in order to accommodate the Christmas period. 

 Gravesham had a substantial amount of contaminated land due to its industrial 

history, but a lot had been made safe. This was often addressed through planning 

applications where the team looked at the relevant data, provided comments back to 

the planners and if the land was contaminated, the relevant conditions would be 

applied to require the developers to remediate the site. 

 The total cost of the policy would be spread across two-years, meaning no additional 

budget would be needed. 

 The consultation process was set out in section 3 of the report. 

 

Item 8 on the agenda made reference to Kent Downs Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 

(AONB) partnerships. The Regulatory Service Manager agreed for them to be consulted. 

Page 5



Operational Services Cabinet Committee 24.11.2022 

4 

The Regulatory Service Manager made note of the recommendations proposed by 

Members. Following any amendments made to the strategy, the portfolio holder was to 

formally approve the Contaminated Land Strategy without further need to report back to the 

Cabinet Committee. 

 

13. Alley Clearance Project Update  
 
The Assistant Director (Operations) presented Members of the Committee with an update on 

the Alley Clearance Project, and outlined the following key points from the report: 

 

 The Alley Clearance Project was a one off, one year project that funded a deep clean 

for targeted alleys, both private and council owned within the borough. Alleys that 

were known fly-tipping destinations were gated and restricted vehicle access. 

 The alleys were selected based on previous complaints, member reports and the 

teams experience with alleys within the borough. 

 At the time of the meeting, nine alleys had been completed, leaving nine to complete. 

 The project budgeted for one electric vehicle. However, due to supply issues, the 

delivery had been delayed and was no expected until January 2023. 

 

Following questions from Members, the Assistant Director (Operations) explained that: 

 

 The project covered the least maintained alleys across the borough. 

 The alleys located in Forge Lane and Villa Road in Higham would be looked into. 

 More alleys could be added to the project, but there was no guarantee that these 

would be completed before the project ended in March 2023. 

 The residents located near the chosen alleys were informed via a letter that this 

would be a one-off clean. 

 Land registry and research determined alleys that were private, and therefore 

maintenance would be down to the residents. 

 Members thought this was a very worthwhile scheme. 

 

The Committee noted the report. 

 

14. Corporate Register of Partnerships - Operational Services  
 
The Assistant Director (Operations) presented Members of the Committee with a report to 

inform them of the council’s involvement in partnerships that were within the remit of the 

committee. 

 

The council had four partnerships, all of which GBC had been long standing members of. 

They all had relevance to what they do as a service and regularly benefitted from what came 

out of them.  

 

The Committee noted the report. 
 

Page 6



Operational Services Cabinet Committee 24.11.2022 

5 

15. Corporate Performance Report: Q2 2022-23  
 
The Regulatory Services Manager and the Assistant Director (Operations) presented 

Members of the Committee with an update against the Performance Management 

Framework, as introduced within the council’s Corporate Plan, for quarter two 2022-23 (July 

to September). The following key points were highlighted from the report: 

 

 PI 3 remained low and was a positive indicator of how safe premises in Gravesham 

were. 

 PI 4 was the highest it had been in three and a half years, showing that more Officers 

have been able to get out to inspections following the covid-19 pandemic. The 

percentage was based on those scheduled for inspection, and those premises who 

were found to be compliant with a score of three or above. 

 PI 5 has seen a slight drop, but still remained high despite large requests.  

 PI 8 has dropped due to a decrease in garden and food waste. It was thought that 

with the cost-of-living crisis residents were being more mindful about food waste. 

 The flat recycling scheme was working to get more flats to recycle, and a meeting 

had taken place with Gravesham Churches Housing to work on their recycling. 

 

Members discussed the success of Street Champions, and the Assistant Director 

(Operations) explained a similar business champion scheme was taking place to encourage 

businesses to keep the outside of their stores clean. This was influenced by the Street 

Cleanliness, Littering and Fly-tipping throughout the Borough Topic Review that was 

conducted. 

 

Thanks was given to all those who participated in the topic review. 

 
 
 Close of meeting  
 
The meeting ended at 8.43 pm 
 
 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



Parks and 
Open Spaces

A n n u a l  Re p o r t
J a n u a r y  – D e c e m b e r  2 0 2 2

H O U S I N G   |   H O R T I C U L T U R E

P h o t o  C r e d i t  J a s o n  A r t h u r

P
age 9

A
genda Item

 5



CONTENTS

Urban Parks

Rural and Parish Parks

Tree Planting

Perennial Planting

English Heritage – New Tavern Fort

Flooding

Wildlife Habitat

Wild Gravesham

Mindful Moment Benches

Grow Your Community

2023 Aspirations

H O U S I N G   |   H O R T I C U L T U R E

P h o t o  C r e d i t  J a s o n  A r t h u r

P
age 10



Wallis Park

The Hive

Fountains Walk

Park Place

Rosherville

Shepherd Street

Windmill Hill Park

Woodlands Park

Medhurst Garden

Kings Farm 

Constable Road

Istead Rise

Luddesdown Park

Camer Park

Culverstone Park

It was identified that there were several play sites that 
required attention and investment, some of these had 
been not been updated for up to 20 years and we were 
not giving the youngest members of Gravesham 
suitable locations to improve their mental and physical 
wellness.

The feedback was been greatly received in all park 
sites and it is wonderful to visit during the weekend, 
evening or the school holiday to see hundreds of 
children playing.

Play Parks
G R A V E SHA M

P
age 11



F O U N TA I N WA L K

This little pocket park was developed on the site 
of a small park that was nearly 15 years old. 

The old equipment wasn't a risk to those playing 
but it gave the wrong impression to the residents 
and the children who live in these council 
properties.

Upon investigation at the start of the year, it was 
clear that there were several families who simply 
weren't using the old equipment because it didn't 
cater to their needs.
Since this new park has been installed there has 
been a great reception.

M E D H U RS T  G A R D E NS

The old park located here was one of the oldest 
units in the borough and although it wasn't flagged 
as a concern by the annual inspection, it was clear 
that its playability was limited, and it needed to cater 
for the younger demographic.

This new park offers to play equipment for the up to 
12-year-olds and a range of play, ranging from 
springer seesaws, sensory elements on the multiplay 
unit, a toddler-themed slide and a new multi-swing 
set.

It is all themed around nature as the park is cut into 
the banks and surrounded by green grass banks that 
soften the landscape for users.

The older children have use of a MUGA, which will 
be reviewed for possible improvements.

P
age 12



WA R W ICK  P L A C E

Warwick Place is home to hundreds of family members, of 
different ages.

Although there is a toddler park nearby, this space was 
developed because there was simply a concrete patch that 
had a single basketball hoop and a shelter.

This brought unwanted anti-social behaviour, which 
discouraged residents from using the large open spaces.

Installing a designated play site for ages up to 12 will 
encourage families to be there more regularly, 
preventing unwanted behaviour.

PA R K  P L A C E

This location was interesting in its complexity because the 
site itself is an unusual size and space, It neighbours
Gravesend Promenade with its play facilities and has three 
pocket parks that had very similar old equipment.

The decision was made to remove all three small pocket 
parks and concentrate effort and budget on the central 
park, which all residents use.

Moving forward those other smaller areas will be 
redeveloped into communal green spaces that will bring 
the community and residents together to talk and enjoy. 

P
age 13



W I N D M IL L  H I L L

This was always being considered for enhancement, as it is a 
beautiful large space at the high point of the town.

This was brought forward in the programme and had to be 
redesigned because of damage caused by an arson attack.

Nevertheless, it allowed us to develop a clear theme of a 
castle on a hill that can be further developed over the 
coming years to bring more play equipment to the 
space, which will make it a destination for families to enjoy 
again.

K I N G S  FA R M

Kings Farm is an unusual space because of the current MUGA 
and gym and play equipment that has been installed in the 
middle of the recreation grounds.

It is a difficult site because of the anti-social behaviour that 
has been a problem in this area, but we couldn't allow this to 
dictate what we should do.

The aim of developing this site was to bring younger families 
to the space and give them something toddlers and children 
up to age 8 can enjoy.

P
age 14



Rosherville is a much-loved park in Northfleet with a lot 
of history and many fond memories for those who used 
to play on equipment when they were children.

The new design was sensitively themed around 
Rosherville Gardens, using interactive shop panels, a big 
top rope climber, inclusive circus play, ground graphics 
and a boat MPU.

We were also able to maximise play by refurbishing 
swings, ground-level roundabout and repainting railings.

Rosherville 
Park

Nort h fle e t

BEFORE

After

P
age 15



Previously the Big Lottery Fund helped with the funding of 
the playground at Istead Rise but being over 16 years old 
it had become tired, and rundown and its play value were 
lacking. This was leading to increased levels of ASB and it 
simply wasn’t accommodating the increased footfall of 
children and families with the success of the Istead 
Community Centre.

Funded by GBC but working in partnership with a local 
community group, we wanted to sensitively design a park 
that brought toddlers and older children together, to 
challenge them with added hiding tunnels, play learning, 
natural grass mounds and movement play all in one 
space.

Play Park
I st e ad  R ise

P
age 16



Considering the success at Istead Rise and Camer Park, the 
decision was made to make significant improvements and 
invest in the development of play parks at both 
Luddesdown and Culverstone.

Luddesdown contributed to the planning 
and funded additional play and seating through the 
Luddesdown Society and when it was opened by the Mayor 
children, families and local businesses came out to show 
support.

Culverstone is yet to be formally opened but we have 
already upcycled picnic benches that had been damaged 
and found them a new home in the playground.

Parish Park
Lu d d e sd own  an d  C u lve rst one

P
age 17



Camer 
Park

Camer is a jewel in the landscape of the borough, being 
nestled among other forest spaces such as Ashenbank Wood, 
Shorne Woods and Jeskyns Community Woodland. It offers a 
real opportunity to make it a destination location for families 
from all over the borough.

The park itself is home to a wonderful array of species of 
trees but it is another space that is used primarily by dog 
walkers.

By significantly developing and investing in the play park we 
have already seen an increase in footfall and schools coming 
to the area to learn about nature and play on this equipment.

P
age 18



INCLUSIVE 
PLAY

Mindful inclusion of new equipment and multiplay 
units that encourage all abilities the space to learn 
and play together.

All the schemes that have been installed over this 
year have been scored taking that into consideration.

This has included textured paths, educational boards, 
natural materials, musical noise makers and non-
traditional play features.

P
age 19



Woodlands 
Sensory Park

Q U E E N’ S  GREEN C A NO P Y

Another first for Gravesham Borough 
Council is the replacement of 
the golf putting greens at 
Woodlands Park which had become 
unsafe and unsightly.

A beautiful inclusive sensory garden 
was designed that families can 
enjoy, surrounded by ancient pine 
trees and newly planted trees for the 
Queen's Platinum Jubilee.

This year GBC planted 2,566 native whips as part of 
more natural boundaries.

The largest of these was surrounding the Woodlands Sensory 
Garden, which was planted to give privacy and a natural defence 

against users damaging play equipment or the landscape.

12
Trees and 

hedgerow planted

species planted

1745 

P
age 20



As part of Gravesham Borough Council’s drive to deliver a greener Gravesham, it was critical to 
make improvements to previous efforts with regard to tree planting around the borough.

With financial assistance from the Queen's Jubilee, we were able to plant thousands of bare-rooted and 
container-grown trees. We increased the number of standards from an average of 121 to over 270, with the aim 
to continue to increase this number progressively through strategic partnerships with North Kent Countryside 

Partnership, Woodlands Trust, KCC and the Forestry Commission.

Tree Planting
GRAVESHAM

Under the Queen's Jubilee program, GBC has planted 20 trees 
across the borough from Woodlands Park to urban 

environments.
In November Lady Colgrain, the Lord Lieutenant of Kent, planted 

Jubilee trees at the Gurdwara and Woodlands Park.

Queen's Jubilee the forest of memories
To remember those who were lost to the Covid-19 pandemic, 250 

native whips were planted through a community group and with the 
help of KCC wardens, police and local families, children and 

religious organisations.

P
age 21



P E R E N N I A L  N OT  
S EA S O N A L

Following the devastation to Gravesend Promenade caused by Storm 
Eunice in 2022 comes positivity. We have taken the opportunity to 
review the area and put together a strategy that strengths our 
corporate values and enhances the Prom not only for the public but 
also for the wildlife. The habitat has been home to more than 138 
different species of bird over the years.

plans
PROMENADE

Working with The Royal Horticultural Society and local RHS 
contractors, we have designed and created a scheme that 
uses perennial planting specifically chosen to promote 
biodiversity, annual colour and growth, and will develop into 
beds that GBC can use as a working canvas.

It also offered the chance to review historic photographs and 
bring continuity by closely linking the Prom with the heritage 
planting at The New Tavern Fort with the use of the same 
plants.

P
age 22



On behalf of English Heritage, Gravesham Borough Council manages part of the 
Thames wartime defense and has the responsibility to highlight and show our 
history through the New Tavern Fort.

It is a tourist opportunity that has not really been developed. With considered town 
management planning it can attract and draw visitors into the gardens to learn 
about why the battlement is here.

Clearance
Rampart

For years the ramparts and gun battlement enclosure 
have been allowed to grow into dense matting of 
brambles, other woody weeds and self-sown 
sycamores.

Contractors were commissioned to cut back and clear 
the embankment so that now it offers better visibility of 
and from the fort onto the Thames and Gordon Gardens.

N E W  TAV E R N  FO RT

P
age 23



In February 2021, we had the trifecta of influence that cause significant damage to the lower -lying section 
between the Town Pier and the promenade in Gravesend. High Spring tides, Storm Franklin, the closure of the 

Thames barrier and high winds led to the whole of Gordon Promenade being underwater.

Flooding
G ord on  P rom e n ad e

Aquatic life in the lake suffered when salt water from the Thames 
burst the banks into the freshwater habitat of the dell and the 

lake.

Fish casualties reached more than 95 recovered from the 
surrounding bank and reeds as the water receded. A significant 
number of marsh frogs perished in the flood, and it will be some 

time before those numbers recuperate.

Damage
In the months following the flood, horticulture worked with 

the Environment Agency to test the quality of the water, to check 
the salinity and levels of chemicals that would further affect the 

health of the remaining species in the lake.

GBC will continue to work with North Kent Countryside 
Partnership to sample the ecology of the habitat and make 

strategic decisions to improve the quality through an informed 
choice of plants that encourage wildlife and insects.

Water Quality

P
age 24



Unfortunately, with the unusual weather patterns that have become more common, this is likely to be a more 
frequent occurrence with the proximity to the Thames Estuary, and we have to control the impact this has on 

the area, the safety of those using the open space and ensure we plan with this in mind.

Flooding
G ord on  P rom e n ad e

There was genuine concern over the health of the swans, ducks 
and birdlife at Gordon Promenade, but with the manual clearance 

and maintenance of the reeds, we saw ducklings, adult swans 
and cygnets that have stayed throughout the season.

There has also been an increase in different species, but there 
has been a general drop in quantity and this will naturally be 
addressed in the development of the lake and its surrounds.

SWANS AND BIRDLIFE
Motivated by GBC’s want to move away from herbicides that 

contain Glyphosate, the decision was made to make the 
treatment of the Japanese lilies and water reeds the last 

application at the lake and instead we will manually remove 
these invasive plants.

Invasive Control 

P
age 25



The volunteers of the Windmill Hill Association dedicated over 132 hours up until 
March 2022. They have worked extremely hard to promote natural habitat and 
develop pockets of plants that are perfect for pollinators.

They continue to open the space to anyone who wants to learn and enjoy the area 
but currently it remains protected while the wildflower areas establish.

habitat
Wildlife

20 bat, bird and owl boxes have been installed in 
various locations in the Borough to promote 
habitat for wildlife.

The proposal is to continue this scheme as there 
have been a few sightings in some of these 
locations, but typically it will be a few seasons 
before wildlife is comfortable about making these 
permanent homes.

B U Z Z  G A R D E N  A N D  
W I L D L I F E  H A B I TAT

P
age 26



Ro ta r y  a n d  S t  G e o rg e ' s  
s c h o o l

For several years GBC has been 
volunteering in the planting of 
purple crocus bulbs on the bank 
at Woodlands Park.

This year GBC staff were helped 
by Rotary Club members and 
groups of children from St 
George's school.

There was a session of education 
about polio given to students who 
have missed out on outdoor 
activities because of Covid, 
followed by the opportunity to get 
their fingernails dirty and plant 
crocus bulbs.

P
age 27



W i l d  C h a l k  G ra s s l a n d

Advice provided by KCC 
ecologist has highlighted that 
although grass has been left on 
the Warren, it hasn’t shown any 
signs of biodiversity 
improvements.

The decision was made to 
survey and cut this back at the 
end of the season, and to lightly 
cultivate and sow appropriate 
seed to encourage positive 
flowering on the chalk ground.

P
age 28



The proposal was to build relationships with local and national support groups to help guide individuals who 
want to use the outdoors to escape, reflect and perhaps find solace in conversation with others.

We installed the first of these benches with the hope that local business and charities will show their support 
and fund further installations across the borough.

Benches
M in d fu l M om e n t

These will start with a simple engraving but 
working with groups like CALM and North Kent 

MIND, together with the Gravesham digital 
team, we will share content on our website, to 
signpost individuals via QR code on a plaque 

to information and help.

Partnerships
Rosherville

Vale Road

St Benedict's

Wombwell Park

Lawrence Square

Windmill Hill

Dicken's Court

Gravesend Cemetery

Istead Rise

Camer Park

Luddesdown

P
age 29



B OAT I N G  B E D S

To promote the 11km of Thames waterfront, themed boat 
planters have been sourced from numerous boat yards and 
Scouts from the local area.

These boats had reached a point where they needed 
significant attention to make them safe for water use, but 
with light sand down and painting they are perfect to plant 
with vibrant colour to brighten up the roadsides around 
Gravesend.

Gravesham Borough Council has continued the trend of 
highlighting events and commemorative days with the use of 
temporary ground spray paints at key locations in our borough.

PA I N T I N G  G R AV ES H A M

P
age 30



G ROW I N G  YO U R  
CO M M U N I T Y

This year saw the introduction and trial of raised beds that 
have been planted and promoted as community herb and 
veg plots.

The hope is that local people will enjoy being involved in a 
little gardening, young people will learn about edible plants 
and there will be additional sensory enjoyment through 
growing other than seasonal bedding in these locations.

Gravesham Borough Council refurbished and installed festive 
benches at The Hive, Northfleet, Rosherville Park, Gordon 
Promenade, Camer Park and Gravesend town centre. These 
would have previously gone to landfill.

F EST I V E  G R AV ES H A M

P
age 31



Enhance the Warren – The lower section of the Warren requires play value and the MUGA needs attention.

Digitalize the horticulture department – In line with all other operational service providers in the council.

Multi Use Games Area (MUGA) – Develop relationships with community groups and sports leagues to improve usage.

Robot Line Marker – Driving efficiency through intelligent use of technology.

Pitch Enhancements – Working with Kent Football Association to increase maintenance.

Friends of Gravesham – Building on the success of the street champions to put a call-out for local green-fingered volunteers.

Rewild the Dell – Using secured funds to plant the bottom of the rampart and encourage wildlife.

Park usage – Use technology to monitor specific open spaces. 

Use this info with a public consultation to develop a strategy in accordance with findings.

Funding for Parks – Investigate avenues of funding to assist with the park improvements.

P
age 32



 

Classification: Public 

Key Decision: No 

Gravesham Borough Council 

Report to: Operational Services Cabinet Committee 

Date: 7th February 2023 

Reporting officer: Stuart Alford - Assistant Director (Operations) 
Joel Simons - Waste Projects & Compliance Officer 
 

Subject: Waste Management Update Report 

Purpose and summary of report:  

To provide Members with an update on Waste Management & Street Cleansing projects & 
performance in the 2022 calendar year. 
 

Recommendations: 

This report is for information only. 

Key Implications: 

Item Implications 

Legal The Environmental Protection Act 1990 places a duty on local 
authorities to collect household waste and a duty to keep the 
streets clear of litter and remove fly-tipped waste on public land. 

Finance and Value for 
Money 

All of the projects and campaigns within this document have been 
funded either through existing budgets or via external funding.  
 
By improving the borough’s recycling performance, the Council 
will be entitled to additional funding from KCC under the Inter-
Authority Agreement as savings are shared between the two 
authorities. 

Corporate Plan #1 People: To create clean, welcoming neighbourhoods and 
parks, and delivering projects and initiatives to further increase 
recycling. 

Climate Change  Priority 3 (GBC - The Community Leader): Public education to 
reuse and recycle in the correct way. The campaigns and 
initiatives outlined in this report will continue to educate residents 
about recycling correctly to minimise contamination, while 
reducing residual waste tonnages.  
 
Furthermore, the campaigns, initiatives and public engagement 
outlined in this report will help in continuing to educate residents to 
improve street cleanliness in order to deliver a cleaner, greener 
borough.   

 

Page 33 Agenda Item 6



2 

 
1. Introduction 

1.1 Our Recycling, Refuse and Street Cleansing Services remained resilient 
throughout 2022 despite the numerous challenges presented, starting with the 
COVID-19 pandemic at the beginning of the year, through to the extreme weather 
conditions in the summer and winter months.  

1.2 Both the waste and street cleansing services continued to work throughout the 
heat wave and snowfall in challenging conditions. 

1.3 While the Waste Management Team and Street Cleansing Team have continued 
to deliver vital services, numerous projects & initiatives have also been underway 
in the past 12-months.  

2. Waste & Recycling and Street Cleansing Staff Uniforms 

2.1 For many years, the Waste & Recycling and Street Cleansing Teams have worn a 
blue uniform with yellow high-visibility vests to make them more visible for safety 
reasons.   

2.2 In recent years, the type and provision of uniform and personal protective 
equipment (PPE) has developed, with improvements made to the quality of 
materials and visibility of the PPE. 

2.3 In 2022, the Council’s Recycling, Refuse & Street Cleansing frontline staff 
transitioned to a full orange uniform. Orange uniform is used across many 
industries including the railways as it is more visible than yellow. 

2.4 The new uniform has made the staff within these services look smarter and more 
professional, as well as more visible on dark mornings. The wearing of the whole 
uniform is compulsory and staff are not permitted to work if they are not wearing 
the correct uniform.   

2.5 Feedback from staff has been very positive regarding the quality of the new 
uniform. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 34



3 

3. Waste & Recycling 

3.1 Recycling Performance 

3.1.1 An overall kerbside-recycling rate of 42.3% was achieved within 
Gravesham in 2022. 

3.1.2 The amount of recycling collected per household is a very accurate 
measurement for tracking recycling participation & performance, calculated 
by dividing the total recycling tonnage by the number of households. 

3.1.3 As set out below, the total recycling per household increased by 61.5 
kilograms per household between 2019 and 2021, although some of this 
increase can be attributed to residents working and studying at home.  

3.1.4 The amount of recycling per household still increased by 13.1 kilograms 
(+4.3%) per household between 2019 and 2022, excluding any variance 
that may have been caused by residents working and studying from home 
in 2020 and 2021. 

Recycling Performance per Household 

Material Stream 
2019 

Tonnage 
2020 

Tonnage 
2021 

Tonnage 
2022 

Tonnage 

Dry Recycling 6,757.8 7,636.6 8,162.4 7,374.0* 

Food Waste 3,056.7 3,264.9 3,221.6 2,616.8* 

Garden Waste 3,478.2 4,020.6 4,327.7 3,649.2* 

Bring-Sites 932.2 1,397.5 1,344.6 1,188.9* 

Less Rejects 884.7 706.0 931.5 817.5* 

Total Tonnage: 13,340.2 15,613.7 16,124.8 14,011.3* 

Total Recycling per 
Household 
Kilograms): 

307.7 359.2 369.2 320.8* 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

*The data for December 2022 was not available at the time of writing and so a 
projected 12-month figure based upon average tonnages throughout the year has 
been provided. 

Page 35



4 

3.1.5 Food waste collections declined by 18.8% in 2022 compared to 2021, 
although this can be attributed to the cost-of-living crisis generating a 
greater awareness of the cost of food waste to households, reducing food 
waste arisings accordingly. 

3.1.6 The drought in the summer of 2022 saw 43.8% less garden waste 
collected in July & August 2022 compared to July & August 2021.  This 
has had a significant adverse impact on the total tonnage of recycling 
collected. 

3.2 Excess Waste Policy & Waste Minimisation 

3.2.1 At the start of the COVID-19 pandemic in March 2020, excess refuse 
began to be collected from Gravesham residents owing to the increase in 
waste generated at home during the national lockdowns.  As can be seen 
in the table below, the average amount of refuse generated per household 
increased year-on-year between 2019 and 2021. 

3.2.2 In March 2022 the Council’s excess waste policy was reinstated supported 
by a communications campaign to limit the amount of refuse that 
households could present for collection. 

3.2.3 In the 2022 calendar year, there was a 1.5-kilogram reduction in refuse 
generated per household compared to the peak in 2021, a reduction of 
4.4%. 

3.2.4 In addition, between March and December 2022, there was a 95.3% 
reduction in excess refuse bags recorded by crews. 
 

3.2.5 The table below sets out how refuse presentation by households has 
changed in recent years. 

Refuse per Household 

  
2019 

Tonnage 
2020 

Tonnage 
2021 

Tonnage 
2022 

Tonnage 

Total Tonnage: 15,735.7 17,194.0 18,290.1 17,492.6* 

Total Refuse per 
Household (Kilograms): 

362.9 395.5 418.8 400.6* 

Average Refuse per 
Household per Month 
(Kilograms) 

30.2 33.0 34.9 33.4* 

Percentage Change   9.0% 5.9% -4.4%* 

     

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 36



5 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

*The data for December 2022 was not available at the time of writing and so a 
projected 12-month figure based upon average tonnages throughout the year has 
been provided. 

3.2.6 The Council continued to encourage waste reduction, re-use and recycling 
throughout 2022.  For example, in addition to the education activities 
detailed in 3.9, the Waste Management Team: 

 

 collected real Christmas trees from residents for composting;  

 supported the ‘Pumpkin Rescue’ campaign at Halloween to prevent 
avoidable food wastage, and; 

 sent educational letters to residents presenting excess waste or 
contaminated recycling bins to explain correct use of the bins and to 
signpost residents to alternative disposal routes. 

 
3.3 Contamination  

3.3.1 A Recycling Contamination Policy was introduced in September 2021 in 
response to rising contaminants present in recycling loads including black 
sacks, food waste, textiles and nappies. 

3.3.2 In conjunction with rejecting contaminated bins, an education campaign 
including social media posts, letters, leaflets and officer visits, has been 
running consistently. In 2022 there were 2,108 interventions, including 
2,061 letters sent to properties that presented contaminated recycling bins. 

Recycling Contamination Analysis 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  2019 2020 2021 2022 

Recycling Rejects (Tons) 884.7 706.0 931.5 817.5* 

Average Rejected Recycling per 
Household (Kilograms): 

20.4 16.2 21.3 18.7* 

Average Rejected Recycling per 
Household Per Month Kilograms) 

1.70 1.35 1.78 1.56* 

Page 37



6 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The data for December 2022 was not available at the time of writing and so a 
projected 12-month figure based upon average tonnages throughout the year has 
been provided. 

3.4 Waste Audit & Findings 

3.4.1 The Kent Resource Partnership (KRP) organised residual waste (black 
sack waste) audits to be conducted in May 2022 in all Kent districts. 

3.4.2 The exercise involved a specialist external company selecting roads from 
different ACORN (consumer classification categories that segments the 
population by ‘geo-demographics) categories in each district.   

3.4.3 The black sack waste was collected from a sample of properties on these 
streets and was taken away so that the contents of the waste could be 
analysed and categorised. 

3.4.4 It should be noted that the data is a snapshot of the contents of the refuse 
bins in a small sample of streets across the borough.  

Page 38



7 

3.4.5 Food waste, paper and plastics were among the highest amounts of 
recyclable material in the residual waste bins in Gravesham, as can be 
seen below: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.4.6 The audit revealed that of the contents of the refuse bins sampled in 
Gravesham, 2.8 kilograms per household per week could have been 
recycled at the kerbside.  
  

3.4.7 This was slightly above the Kent-wide average of 2.5 kilograms per 
household per week but was below the highest recorded average of 3.4 
kilograms per household per week recorded in Swale. 
 

3.4.8 The findings will be used to develop local and Kent-wide educational 
materials and strategies to increase recycling participation in these key 
material types. 

3.5 Flats Recycling 

3.5.1 The phased approach to the introduction and enhancement of recycling 
provision at flats has continued to be implemented.   

3.5.2 In the 17 months since August 2021, 664 more flats in 44 blocks have dry 
mixed recycling collections and 684 more flats have food waste recycling 
collections. Overall, 17 months into project 56.5% of flats in the borough 
now have recycling collections. 

  

Page 39



8 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.5.3 We have also delivered educational recycling leaflets to 1,114 flats in the 
borough (17.7% of total Council-owned and private flats). 

3.6   Amendments to Planning Guidance on Waste Requirements 

3.6.1 Our ‘Planning Guidance on Waste Requirements’ was updated to reflect 
developers’ responsibilities in relation to bins meeting specified standards. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.6.2 We have also developed a ‘Flats Waste Storage Best Practice Guide’ in 
the appendix of the guidance to suggest appropriate bin store layouts and 
to make developers aware of the bin stickers and leaflets that we are able 
to offer to assist residents in using the bins and bin stores correctly. 

3.6.3 The document is shared with developers at the planning stage and upon 
inquiring about ordering bins and scheduling waste collections. 

  

Page 40



9 

 

3.7 Recycling ‘On-the-Go’ Update 

3.7.1 The street litter recycling project, comprising of recycling ‘on-the-go’ bins & 
Street Champion segregated litter, has yielded 8.1 tonnes of recycling to 
date.  Additional recycling ‘on-the-go’ bins have been installed in Higham, 
at Parrock Street Car Park and at Cascades Leisure Centre. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.8 Award Nominations 

3.8.1 The Street Champions initiative was awarded a Certificate of Excellence 
by IESE in January 2022 ‘to mark significant innovations in transforming 
local public services.’ 
 

3.8.2 Gravesham Borough Councils’ Waste Management Team were also 
shortlisted for two awards in the ‘Local Authority Success’ Category at the 
National Recycling Awards 2022: 

 Tackling Rising Contamination in Gravesham 

 Delivering Flats Recycling in Gravesham 

 

 

 

 

Page 41



10 

3.8.3 The nominations show the originality and success of our campaigns, and 
demonstrate that the Waste Management Teams’ projects have been 
recognised at a national level within the waste and recycling sector. 

3.9 Communications 

3.9.1 In 2022, Officers were invited to speak at six venues, including schools, 
Scout Groups and community meetings, engaging with 140 people about 
waste & recycling.  The attendees were very engaged with the subject 
matter and Officers were asked many questions about waste and 
recycling, particularly regarding what happens to it once it has been 
collected from households. 

3.9.2 Officers also attended the Riverside Festival in July 2022 and the ‘Summer 
Fun’ Programme throughout August 2022 to engage with residents and 
children about recycling and the Street Champions initiative. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.9.3 Officers are also working with the Youth Council to develop a workshop for 
delivery by young people in schools and colleges.  Officers will work with 
the Youth Council representative to deliver presentations, assemblies, 
activities and workshops, which can then be delivered by the 
representatives within their own schools and colleges. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 42



11 

3.9.4 Finally, a Waste Services Guide was developed to explain all aspects of 
the waste & recycling service.  The guide is delivered to all new-build 
properties upon the delivery of their bins, with the aim of ensuring that the 
new occupiers have all the information required to make full and effective 
use of the waste and recycling services available in the borough. 

3.10 Christmas Recycling Campaigns 

3.10.1 In recent years, the Council has invested in producing high quality 
recycling videos for the Christmas period to advertise the recycling & 
refuse collection dates; which types of wrapping paper can be recycled, 
and; real Christmas tree collections.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.10.2 There was an overall increase in recycling collected over the Christmas 
period of 512.1 tonnes in 2021/22 compared to 2018/19. 

3.10.3 The amount of recycling collected per household during the Christmas 
period has increased from 42.7 kilograms in 2018-19 to 53.8 kilograms in 
2021/22.  This is an increase of 11.1 kilograms per household (+25.9%). 

3.10.4 We await the final collection data for December 2022 and January 2023. 

3.11 Real Christmas Tree Collections 

3.11.1 In January 2022, the Council’s garden waste crews collected real 
Christmas trees free of charge from any property in the borough that 
presented them on their usual recycling day. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 43



12 

3.11.2 The real Christmas trees were sent with the garden waste to Blaise Farm 
near Kings Hill for composting. 

3.11.3 Due to the success of the scheme in January 2022, the real Christmas tree 
collections took place again in January 2023. 

 

4. Street Cleansing 

4.1 Street Cleansing Policy 

4.1.1 In November 2022, a Street Cleansing Policy was brought before 
Members for their consideration and for adoption. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4.1.2 The Street Cleansing Policy was written to outline clearly what residents 
can expect of the service, including SLAs and the service specification 
around street cleansing.  The policy also outlines what GBC does and 
what third-party organisations, such as KCC Highways and National 
Highways, are responsible for. 

4.1.3 This follows significant changes in the way that the service has been 
delivered in the last few years. 

4.2 Fly-Tipping and Environmental Enforcement  

4.2.1 The Waste Management Team continue to work closely with the 
Environmental Enforcement Team to tackle environmental crime, such as 
fly-tipping. 

4.2.2 Both teams liaise to ensure that illegally dumped waste is promptly cleared 
after the Environmental Enforcement Team have had an opportunity to 
investigate the fly-tipping reports.  This has been particularly successful in 
locations such as the Ordnance Road recycling point. 

4.2.3 Officers from both teams meet on a regular basis to discuss ‘hot spot’ 
areas and how we can engage with residents to minimise fly-tipping, 
educate residents about correct waste disposal and how best to share 
intelligence between teams. 

Page 44



13 

4.2.4 In 2021, we reviewed how we record and collate our fly-tipping tonnages to 
better-reflect practices across Kent and the UK more widely. 

4.2.5 In the six-months following this review, an average of 35.2 tonnes of fly-
tipping was collected by our crews each month.  In the next nine-month 
period to the end of 2022, an average of 30.7 tonnes of fly-tipping was 
collected each month, a reduction of 12.7%. 

4.2.6 The table below tracks the number of instances of fly-tipping reported to 
the Council: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

4.2.7 To ensure more incidents of fly-tipping are investigated, officers from 
across departments, including Housing, were encouraged to submit fly-
tipping reports via our online form, rather than emailing them to the Waste 
Management Unit.  The figures have become more reflective over time of 
the number of fly-tips reported to the Council. 

4.2.8 On average, the number of fly-tipping reports per month decreased by 
8.9% in 2022 compared to 2021, so despite better reporting opportunities, 
the actual number of reports has reduced year-on-year, reflecting the 
effectiveness of the enforcement activity and clearance regime. 

4.3 Rear Accessway Project  

4.3.1 For the year 2022/23, a one-off project to clean-up alleys across the 
borough was undertaken to help to improve the local environment.  

4.3.2 The aim of the project was to clear alleys which had become overgrown 
and/or suffered from fly-tipping, whether the alleys are privately- or council-
owned, to make them accessible once again and to improve resident’s 
local environment.  

4.3.3 A list of 18 alleyways were scheduled for clearance based upon historical 
enquiries from residents, councillors and liaising with housing officers. To 
date, crews have completed 13 alleyways & rear access ways. 

Month 2019 2020 2021 2022 

January 122 232 216 167 

February 175 219 178 158 

March 142 161 240 184 

April 134 229 232 190 

May 178 183 225 217 

June 169 215 178 154 

July 254 164 210 173 

August 186 184 184 219 

September 184 187 150 156 

October 222 181 160 195 

November 201 127 180 159 

December 138 203 164 139 

Total 
Incidents: 2,105 2,285 2,317 2,111 

Page 45



14 

4.3.4 The scheme has been very successful, with a high number of positive 
comments received from local residents. 

4.3.5 A selection of ‘before’ and ‘after’ photos can be seen below:  

Hawkins Avenue 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                          Before                                                         After 

Rural Vale & Gordon Road 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                        Before                                                         After 

 

 

 

Page 46



15 

4.4 Chewing Gum Grant 

4.4.1 The Waste Management Team successfully bid for £11,631.00 of funding 
from DEFRA and Keep Britain Tidy to pay for chewing gum to be removed 
from 27 locations in the town centre and at shopping parades across the 
borough. 

4.4.2 Whilst we have undertaken deep cleaning & street washing work in recent 
years, this work was predominantly in the town centre, however through 
the project we were able to have a greater impact across the borough. 

4.4.3 Educational stickers & signs were provided as part of the funding, and 
some of examples of the signage ;provided by the scheme can be seen 
below: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 47



16 

4.5 Street Champions  

4.5.1 As of December 2022, there are now 470 Street Champions and 314 
streets, alleyways and open spaces have been ‘adopted.’ 

4.5.2 Volunteers, Members and Officers attended the first Street Champions 
‘Meet & Greet’ event on Tuesday, 24th May 2022 at the Kent Room at 
Woodville Halls.  Approximately 50 volunteers, Members and Officers 
attended. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4.5.3 The key performance statistics for 2022 can be seen below: 
 

 

 

 

4.5.4 The Street Champions initiative has been extremely productive and clearly 
demonstrates the positive impact that civic-minded residents can have on 
maintaining and improving their local environment. 
 

  2022 Total Average per Month 

Total number of sacks collected:  3829 319 

Total number of large items collected: 508 42 

Total number of forms completed:  429 36 

Total number of litter picks completed: 2282 190 

Page 48



17 

4.6 Communications & Signage 

4.6.1 In the Spring and Summer of 2022, bespoke campaigns have been 
developed and delivered for the rural parts of the borough in collaboration 
with Parish Councils as well as specific urban locations in Northfleet; 
namely The Hive, The Hill and Perry Street. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4.6.2 The intention was to give residents and visitors to these locations a warm 
welcome but also to remind them of their responsibilities in keeping the 
street scene clean and tidy. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4.6.3 The rural signage was requested by all Parish Councils and has been 
utilised in each respective locality.  

4.6.4 Some residents in more rural Wards have contacted us regarding the 
signage and Street Champions have commented positively on the signage 
being put up at their local shopping parades. 

4.6.5 We plan to roll the signage out to other shopping parades in the borough in 
2023 as part of the Business Litter Champions initiative outlined in 5.4. 

4.7 Extreme Weather 

4.7.1 2022 was a year of extremes in weather with record-breaking 
temperatures in the summer then the snow and prolonged freezing 
conditions in December.  

Page 49



18 

4.7.2 During this period, the frontline staff continued to deliver excellent services 
to residents, plus additional tasks such as gritting paths in the town centre, 
shopping parades and car parks across the borough. 

5. Future Projects 

5.1 In 2023, we will focus on the following: 

 Continuing to review the current vehicle fleet to identify options to introduce 

alternative-fuelled vehicles and reduce carbon emissions. 

 

 Continuing communication with residents regarding changes to bank holiday 

waste collections from 2023. 

 

 Continuing to focus on recycling contamination & participation - targetted 

communications campaigns in areas with high levels of recycling 

contamination and low-levels of recycling presentation & participation. 

 

 Working with the Kent Resource Partnership to develop an updated Waste 

Strategy for the county. 

 

 We will continue to work with schools on environmental projects. 

 

 Continuation of real Christmas tree collections in January 2024 

5.2 Our key projects in 2023 will include: 

‘Re-Launching’ Kerbside Battery Collections 

 The kerbside collection of household batteries has been in place for a 
number of years. They can be presented for collection with their recycling 
or refuse by placing them in a small clear plastic bag on top of the bin or 
sacks.  However, the initiative has not been advertised in recent years and 
so we will ‘re-launch’ the kerbside battery collection. 

 Batteries must never be placed in household rubbish or recycling bins, as 
they can explode and catch fire if damaged or crushed. An example of how 
dangerous and damaging putting batteries into refuse and recycling bins 
can be seen below: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 50



19 

 Fortunately, quick reaction by the Waste Collection Crew and Vehicle 
Workshop Team ensured that the vehicle was saved and no one was 
injured as a result of the fire.  There were, however, damages of 
approximately £3,000. 

 Had the vehicle been consumed by fire, a replacement refuse collection 
vehicle would cost approximately £200,000 and would take 12- 18-months 
to procure. 

 Batteries can also be taken to supermarkets or to our collection points at 
the Civic Centre and at Gravesend Borough Market, as can be seen 
below:  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5.3 Small Electrical Recycling Points  

5.3.1 We are exploring external funding opportunities to install small electrical 
collection points at recycling points across the borough, so that residents 
can easily recycle small electricals like kettles and toasters, within a 1-mile 
range of their home. 

5.3.2 If successful, the recycling points will look similar to the below: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 51



20 

 

5.4 Business Champions Trial 

5.4.1 The Street Champions initiative has been very successful in recent years. 

5.4.2 The Scrutiny Topic review of Street Cleanliness, Littering, and Fly-tipping 
throughout the Borough recommended establishing a similar scheme for 
businesses, enabling shopkeepers to keep the road & pavement outside 
their business clean & tidy between daily visits by Street Cleansing 
Operatives. 

5.4.3 The Council will provide equipment and litter sacks for the project and will 
remove any litter sacks.  Spot checks will be conducted to ensure that the 
litter sacks are not being misused to dispose of commercial waste. 

 

6. Appendices 

6.1 There are no appendices.  

 

7. Background Documents  

7.1 There are no background documents. 

 

Lead Officer:  Stuart Alford 

Email:  stuart.alford@gravesham.gov.uk  

 
  

Page 52

mailto:stuart.alford@gravesham.gov.uk


21 

Secondary Implications  

Risk Assessment The projects and communication campaigns detailed within this report are designed 
to improve service delivery and impact directly in the aims of the Corporate Plan. 

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment 

 

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process.  

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data?  

A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links. 

No. 

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice? 

N/A. 

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk. 

N/A. 

Equality Impact 
Assessment 

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer. 

No. 

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer. 

N/A. 

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above 

Crime and Disorder Community safety - a clean environment helps to reduce the likelihood of littering 
and other anti-social behaviours. 

Digital and website 
implications 

There are no implications. 

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults 

There are no implications. 

 

Page 53

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	5 Parks & Open Space 2022 Annual Report
	Slide 1
	Slide 2
	Slide 3
	Slide 4
	Slide 5
	Slide 6
	Slide 7
	Slide 8
	Slide 9
	Slide 10
	Slide 11
	Slide 12
	Slide 13
	Slide 14
	Slide 15
	Slide 16
	Slide 18
	Slide 20
	Slide 21
	Slide 22
	Slide 23
	Slide 24
	Slide 25
	Slide 26

	6 Waste Management Update Report

